IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

0A 9-5-89

THE UPJOHN COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Upjohn, manufactures a prescription drug under the registered trademark "Depo-Provera." In 1974, the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) had approved Depo-Provera for only one indication (use) -- the treatment of inoperable, recurrent and metastatic endometrial carcinoma (Fletcher, D. 14; Plaintiff's Ex. 8; Defendant's Ex. 1; App. 1). Although that was the drug's only FDA-approved use, the plaintiff, Anne MacMurdo, was given two injections of Depo-Provera for the purpose of contraception, a use neither indicated by the manufacturer nor approved by the FDA. These injections were given by medical doctors certified by the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology.

As a prescription drug that only licensed physicians can prescribe, Depo-Provera is subject to the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act's strict labeling requirements and the pertinent regulations established thereunder (App. 3 and 4). Under federal law applicable in 1974, a package insert drawn in accordance with the FDA's labeling regulations was required to accompany every vial of Depo-Provera shipped in interstate commerce. The package inserts for Depo-Provera from October 1972 through April 1976 were in evidence as Plaintiff's Ex. 8 and Defendant's Ex. 1, respectively (App. 1 and 2).

Following the second injection of Depo-Provera by Dr. Arthur Shapiro in Miami, Florida, MacMurdo allegedly experienced excessive vaginal bleeding. In late 1974 she returned to Dr. Donald Levy who, at the Ochsner clinic in New Orleans, had pre-

- 1 -

scribed MacMurdo's first dose of Depo-Provera for contraceptive purposes. Dr. Levy, in January 1975, performed an elective hysterectomy on MacMurdo.

Over three years later MacMurdo, perceiving that Depo-Provera had some causal connection to the hysterectomy, filed a complaint on 19 May 1978 in the Circuit Court for Broward County, Florida. An amended complaint was filed on 17 January 1979. The complaint essentially charged Upjohn with an inadequate warning as to the side effects of Depo-Provera.

After two trips to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in one of which a summary judgment for Upjohn was reversed', the case came on for trial before the Circuit Court in Broward County, Florida, in December 1986.

At the close of the plaintiff's case in chief (T. 660 at seq.) and again at the close of all the evidence and before the verdict was returned (T. 1043), Upjohn moved for a directed verdict. The case was submitted to the jury on two theories of liability. One was Upjohn's alleged negligence in marketing Depo-Provera and the other was Upjohn's alleged failure to provide an adequate warning with respect to the product (T. 1030-32). The jury found for Upjohn on the first issue and for MacMurdo on the second. It assessed the plaintiff's total damages in the amount of \$370,000 but found plaintiff 49% comparatively negligent (App. 6). A judgment was entered on 17

- 2 -

¹ <u>MacMurdo v. Upjohn Co</u>., 388 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); <u>MacMurdo v. Upjohn Co</u>., 444 So.2d 449 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983, <u>reh.</u> <u>denied</u> 1984).

December 1986 (R. 2574), following which Upjohn timely filed motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (R. 2575-2576) and for new trial (R. 2578). MacMurdo moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the jury's finding of comparative negligence. The trial court denied these motions (R. 2731, 2735).

Upjohn appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal and MacMurdo filed a cross appeal. The District Court, in a decision rendered 21 December 1988 (App. 7), affirmed the trial court's judgment on the issue of Upjohn's liability but reversed the judgment with respect to plaintiff's comparative negligence. The <u>Upjohn Company v. MacMurdo</u>, 536 So.2d 337 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Upjohn filed a timely notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. By order dated 1 May 1989, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff, Anne MacMurdo, appeared in the New Orleans office of Dr. Donald Levy on 27 May 1974. Dr. Levy, a boardcertified gynecologist at the Ochsner Clinic in New Orleans, authorized a 250 mg. injection of Depo-Provera for the plaintiff for purposes of controlling abnormal bleeding and contraception (Levy, D. 22/2).

Dr. Levy had at some time read the package insert for Depo-Provera, although exactly when in reference to the injection is uncertain (Levy, D. 28/12). Dr. Levy nevertheless knew the only approved use of the drug as shown by the package insert was for the treatment of endometrial carcinoma (Levy, D. 28/7; 38/22). He had been aware of this for several years prior to his deposition which was taken on 15 August 1978 (Levy, D. 28/16).

MacMurdo testified that after her first injection of Depo-Provera in May 1974, she had no menstrual period for approximately 90 days (T. 553/1). She testified, however, that before she began to use Depo-Provera for contraceptive purposes, her menstrual period was "pretty regular" when she was not utilizing either an IUD or birth control pills (T. 572/10).

MacMurdo visited the offices of Dr. Arthur Shapiro for the first time in August 1974. She saw Dr. Shapiro, a boardcertified gynecologist, at the University Family Services Clinic at the University of Miami Hospital on 6 August 1974 (T.472/19). MacMurdo came in requesting an abortion (T. 474/12), only to discover that she was not pregnant. She saw Dr. Shapiro again on 15 August 1974. At that time she provided a history of

- 4 -

irregular menstrual cycle length and heavy and painful menstrual flow (T. 478/15). On that date, on Dr. Shapiro's prescription, a second Depo-Provera injection was administered for contraceptive purposes because, as Dr. Shapiro testified, other forms of birth control had not been satisfactory (T. 479/10-20).

When asked whether in **1974** he was aware that Depo-Provera had the effect of causing excessive bleeding, Dr. Shapiro replied, "I would say that it was if it had been a side-effect, it would be a very rare side-effect" (T. **502/24-503/4).** Dr. Shapiro testified that he probably had read the **1974** package insert and knew in **1974** that the drug

"... would usually cause prolonged, irregular staining usually not heavy bleeding. In other words, the word 'prolonged' is fair to say. Usually the side-effect of the drug was to have no menstrual periods at all.... The other type of reaction that one would have a side effect would be irregular prolonged light type of staining, but usually not excessive bleeding" (T. 504/6).

Dr. Shapiro then indicated in response to a leading question that he did not think a woman would have excessive bleeding for 30 days a month (T. 504/19).

According to MacMurdo, after her second injection of Depo-Provera she returned to New Orleans where she entered a hospital in December 1974 and had her breast implants redone. [Her breast implant was performed in 1969 or 1970 (T.557/15).] She testified that after the second injection of Depo-Provera she had a period which continued for three months or until her hysterectomy (T. 553/17). In describing her bleeding, the plaintiff stated that her blood would go from bright red to brown as though her period

- 5 -

were about to end and then would turn bright red again (T. 554/21).

With regard to the performance of the hysterectomy, the plaintiff testified she returned to the office of Dr. Levy who told her that he could eliminate the bleeding through a hysterectomy (T. 607/16). When asked what her understanding was as to the necessity for the hysterectomy, she obliquely replied, "That it would stop the bleeding and at that point if they hung me from a tree, if that would stop the bleeding, fine" (T. 560/11).

While MacMurdo herself testified she did not request sterilization as a means of birth control (T. 560/6), she carefully avoided testifying that she in good faith believed, on the basis of medical advice, that a hysterectomy was reasonably necessary to resolve her bleeding problem. (T. 560/11; 607/14). The record reflects that in 1973 MacMurdo had an episode of prolonged bleeding attributable to using an IUD. The bleeding was cured by a D&C following removal of the IUD (T. 586/2-24).

According to her own testimony, MacMurdo signed two voluntary consent forms and consented to the hysterectomy with knowledge of its sterilizing effect (T.616/3-19), and, insofar as the record is concerned, without a word of inquiry as to alternatives. She admitted her decision to opt for a hysterectomy was a snap decision. (T. 615/2). Moreover, substantial evidence in the record indicated MacMurdo actually was interested in a hysterectomy as a means of sterilization. She had a strong motivation for avoiding pregnancy. In 1970 she became pregnant (T. 572/8).

- 6 -

Tragically, her child was born with a fatal birth defect (T. 574/22-575/3). Following the birth of the child, MacMurdo attempted suicide (T. 575/18). Thereafter, she sought counseling from a genetic clinic (T. 575/4) and was advised that the problem giving rise to the birth defect in her first child may have been genetic and she had perhaps a one in twenty chance of reoccurrence. (T. 575/15).

Substantial evidence of MacMurdo's own illicit drug usage was presented (T. 582/13; T. 582/19; T. 583/14-23; T. 584/1; T. 587/14 - 588/19; T. 606/10-607/4). While the timeframe of her drug usage was not established with pinpoint accuracy, it was clear from MacMurdo's testimony she extensively used illicit drugs before her hysterectomy in January 1975. At one point in her testimony she recounted that in March 1973, while in the hospital, she took a Quaalude and "probably Librium, too" and then made an aside that a friend brought these items "rather than bringing flowers" (T. 587/8 - 588/21).

Dr. Levy testified that in January 1975 MacMurdo presented herself complaining of painful menstruation and dysfunctional bleeding (Levy, D. 41/23). The precise question asked of Dr. Levy was, "Did she present herself with any of the adverse reactions that are listed on the reverse side of this insert consistent with your examination and history of that visit?" To this he replied, "I have at that time that she was complaining of dysmenorrhea, which is painful menstruation, and dysfunctional bleeding, which is abnormal bleeding. I don't see either one of these listed as an adverse reaction" (Levy, D. 41/23).

- 7 -

Because this testimony was placed before the jury by reading from Dr. Levy's deposition, it is not apparent whether during the questioning he was examining the package insert. However, a fair assumption is that if he examined the insert at all, his examination was somewhat cursory because the package insert specifically lists "breakthrough bleeding" and "change in menstrual flow" as adverse reactions. Breakthrough bleeding is dysfunctional or abnormal bleeding outside the normal menstrual period, and change in the menstrual flow refers to changes from a norm (see Plaintiff's Ex. 8, App. 2 and Defendant's Ex. 1, App. 1; Taber's Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary (1987), p. 206, App. Neither Dr. Levy nor Dr. Shapiro testified that the package 8). insert, when read as a whole and considered in light of their medical education and experience, was inadequate to put them on notice that Depo-Provera when used as a contraceptive involved the risk of prolonged bleeding. Furthermore, Dr. Levy and Dr. Shapiro testified they knew Depo-Provera was not recommended by Upjohn for contraceptive purposes (Levy, D. 28/7-19; T. 473-25; т. 513/6).

The Depo-Provera package insert should be examined in its entirety; however, pertinent portions of the 1974 package insert read as follows:

DESCRIPTION

Medroxyprogesterone acetate, U.S.P. is a derivative of progesterone and is active by the parenteral and oral routes of administration....

ACTIONS

Depo-Provera (medroxyprogesterone acetate) administered parenterally in the recommended doses to women with adequate endogenous estrogen transforms proliferative

- 8 -

endometrium into secretory endometrium.,..

Because of its prolonged action and the resulting difficulty in predicting the time of withdrawal bleeding following injection, Depo-Provera is not recommended in secondary amenorrhea or dysfunctional uterine bleeding....

INDICATIONS

Adjunctive therapy and palliative treatment of inoperable, recurrent, and metastatic endometrial carcinoma.

CONTRAINDICATIONS

- - -
- 4. Undiagnosed vaginal bleeding....

. . .

WARNINGS

- . . .
- 3. The use of Depo-Provera (medroxyprogesterone acetate) for contraception is investigational since there are unresolved questions relating to its safety for this indication. Therefore, this is not an approved indication for this use....

PRECAUTIONS

- . . .
- 3. In cases of breakthrough bleeding, as in all cases of irregular bleeding per vaginum, nonfunctional causes should be borne in mind. In cases of undiagnosed vaginal bleeding, adequate diagnostic measures are indicated....

. . .

ADVERSE REACTIONS

... The following adverse reactions have been associated with the use of Depo-Provera (medroxyprogesterone acetate).

Miscellaneous -- Rare cases of headache and hyperpyrexia have been reported.

The following adverse reactions have been observed in women taking progestin including Depo-Provera:

breakthrough bleeding spotting change in menstrual flow....

In view of these observations, patients on progestin therapy should be carefully observed.

(Emphasis added)

Dr. Levy testified that the plaintiff requested steriliza-

tion (Levy, D. 42/19). He further testified that her complaints (with respect to bleeding) did not necessarily indicate a need for a hysterectomy (Levy, D. 86/6). He testified that he did not recommend a hysterectomy to the plaintiff (Levy, D. 47/10) but agreed to do one at her request (Levy, D. 47/10). Dr. Levy admitted that MacMurdo's complaints with respect to bleeding could have been treated otherwise than by a hysterectomy. Those complaints, he stated, could have been treated through "hormonial [sic] control" and possibly a D&C (Levy, D. 86/22-87/5).

The plaintiff introduced an article written by Dr. Paul M. Schwallie published in a recognized medical journal in May 1973 (Plaintiff's Ex. 7, App. 5). Dr. Schwallie joined Upjohn after 10 years in private practice and was in its fertility research unit with duties limited to the study of Depo-Provera as an injectable contraceptive (T. 460/17). An excerpt from the article states:

Medroxyprogesterone acetate usage results in changes in the normal-menstrual cycle. The resultant bleeding is irregular and unpredictable both from individual to individual and within the same individual. It is more frequently in the nature of spotting or light bleeding than heavy menstrual flow. For the purposes of this study, spotting was considered to be present if no protection was required to prevent clothing soilage. (Emphasis added.) (at 334).

The plaintiff also introduced portions of Dr. Schwallie's deposition. Dr. Schwallie testified with respect to his terminology in the article, that a woman was considered to have bleeding if she required sanitary protection to prevent clothing spoilage; otherwise her bleeding was classified as "spotting" (Schwallie, D. 48). He testified his studies showed that after

- 10 -

the first injection of Depo-Provera, 32-33% of the women studied experienced bleeding or spotting, but the majority of women with that reaction experienced spotting rather than bleeding (Schwallie, D. 49-54). A bar graph appearing in Dr. Schwallie's article was introduced in evidence as Plaintiff's Ex. 9. It illustrates the incidence of bleeding or spotting in the study group decreased markedly after the second and subsequent injections.

The plaintiff called David Benjamin, a Ph.D. in pharmacology, to comment on Dr. Schwallie's studies and on Upjohn's package insert. When asked if he thought there was more effective language that could have been used in the package insert to convey the message that Depo-Provera should not be used for contraception, Dr. Benjamin stated that Upjohn's language could have been highlighted by a black box or could have been changed to read "not recommended'' for contraceptive purposes (T. 313/2-10). Dr. Benjamin admitted, of course, that he cannot prescribe medication (T.380/9) and that the FDA approved the Depo-Provera package insert (T. 384/7-19). He also admitted that in examining a package insert for approval, the FDA has the benefit of experts in academic medicine (T. 385/2), Dr. Benjamin specifically denied claiming Upjohn did or did not do something wrong or negligent in connection with the phraseology of its package insert (T. 385/2-16). He further conceded that the package insert has four separate warnings with respect to bleeding and the warning related to change in menstrual flow could refer to heavy or light bleeding (T. 398/12-399/14), He

a . . .

- 11 -

also stated that warning no, 3 on the package insert was clear to him.

Dr. Benjamin interpreted the statistics in the Schwallie article as indicating that 27% of the women in the study experienced 11-30 days bleeding after the first injection of Depo-Provera with the percentage decreasing to 15% after subsequent injections (T. 326-327). The publication of the Schwallie article, he said, was one means of informing the medical community. He testified it is common knowledge that physicians have a right to prescribe drugs for unapproved uses if they make the judgment that such is in the patient's best interest (T. 414/24-415/3).

Dr. Benjamin, when examined on the package insert, testified the package insert contraindicates the drug for women with a history of undiagnosed vaginal bleeding (T. 424/7) and stated that "breakthrough bleeding" listed on the package insert as an adverse reaction is bleeding beyond the normal menstrual period (T. 425/23-426/2).

Dr. Arthur Shapiro, who gave the plaintiff her second injection of Depo-Provera, when asked about the causal connection between the vaginal bleeding complaint reported to Dr. Levy in January 1975 and the hysterectomy, testified that the vaginal bleeding did not necessarily lead to the hysterectomy. When asked whether or not the removal of the uterus solved the problem, Dr. Shapiro made the colorful response: "Yes. You can always sink a rowboat with a torpedo" (T. 492/7-24).

The plaintiff's own medical expert, Dr. Sorosh Roshan, a

- 12 -

board-certified gynecologist from New Jersey and New York, although testifying that in her opinion the Depo-Provera caused the plaintiff's bleeding (Roshan, D. 57/25), stated that there was no justification for the hysterectomy (Roshan, D. 51/22; 70/21-71/13). Its performance was a deviation from acceptable standards (Roshan, D. 51/22-52/8). Dr. Roshan testified that the appropriate treatment for plaintiff's bleeding was iron and bedrest initially, then the use of estrogen, and finally a D&C, if the other procedures were unsuccessful (Roshan, D/ 51/9-21).

With regard to the package insert, Dr. Roshan testified that she understood the package insert to contain a warning against the use of Depo-Provera for contraceptive purposes (Roshan, D/54/25-55/8) and was of the opinion that it was malpractice to prescribe Depo-Provera as a contraceptive (Roshan, D. 27/12-28/6).

Two expert witnesses testified for Upjohn. The first was Elizabeth Connell, a full professor at Emory and a boardcertified gynecologist. Dr. Connell, in addition to testifying that in her opinion the bleeding MacMurdo experienced did not result from Depo-Provera (T. 706/16), testified that the warning on the package insert was adequate to warn the medical profession against the use of Depo-Provera for contraceptive purposes. With regard to the package insert, she testified that breakthrough bleeding is understood to be bleeding outside the normal menstrual cycle (T. 725/1) and that the reference in the package insert to change in menstrual flow refers to either an increase or a decrease in the flow from a person's norm (T. 725/10-18).

- 13 -

Upjohn's other expert, Dr. Donald Levitt, a board-certified gynecologist who had worked five years with the FDA, testified that the adverse reaction section of the package insert tells the physician that Depo-Provera can change the menstrual flow (T. 835/18). He added that the indications section in the package insert states quite clearly that Depo-Provera was not approved for use as a contraceptive (T. 831/10). He pointed out, however, that the FDA does not control the physicians' use of a drug for unapproved indications (T. 839/23-840/10).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

FIRST ISSUE

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL PRESENTED A JURY QUESTION AS TO THE ADEQUACY OF DEFENDANT UPJOHN'S WARNING CONCERNING DEPO-PROVERA.

SECOND ISSUE

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING IMPLICITLY THAT THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED A JURY QUESTION AS TO THE CAUSAL CONNECTION BETWEEN THE ALLEGEDLY INADEQUATE WARNING AND THE PLAINTIFF'S INJURY.

THIRD ISSUE

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