OA 9-5-89

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 9 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By [Signature]  
Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE UPJOHN COMPANY, )  
 )  
Petitioner, )  
 )  
v. )  
 )  
ANNE MARIE MACMURDO, )  
a/k/a ANNE MARIE STAFFORD, )  
 )  
Respondent. )  
\_\_\_\_\_ )

CASE NO. 73,596

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS  
On "Conflict Jurisdiction" From The  
Fourth District Court of Appeal

RICHARD A. KUPFER, ESQ.  
Wagner, Nugent, Johnson, Roth,  
Romano, Eriksen & Kupfer, P.A.  
Flagler Center Tower, Suite 300  
505 South Flagler Drive  
P. O. Box 3466  
West Palm Beach, FL 33402  
(407) 655-5200  
Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

The basic premise for Upjohn's reason for invoking this court's jurisdiction is flawed. The Fourth DCA below did not hold that the adequacy of a drug manufacturer's warning is always for the jury to decide. There is no conflict between this case and the Felix case on that point, or any other point. For that reason, we believe this court has improvidently accepted jurisdiction in this case.

The facts developed at trial clearly presented a jury question on the adequacy of the warnings to alert the medical community to expect such prolonged heavy bleeding as a possible side effect of the drug. Neither of the plaintiff's prescribing doctors knew that Depo-Provera could cause prolonged heavy bleeding for five months. They both thought it was not listed as a possible adverse reaction on the package insert, and Dr. Benjamin agreed with them.

Upjohn did not recommend against or contraindicate the use of Depo-Provera for contraceptive purposes, and it had self-serving reasons not to do so.

The evidence at trial was that the only adverse side effects listed by Upjohn in the package insert ("spotting," "breakthrough bleeding" and "change in menstrual flow") do

not describe the plaintiff's reaction to the drug. The fact that the package insert was approved by the FDA does not foreclose common-law liability for negligent failure to warn. The FDA is not alleged to have been aware of this undisclosed side effect of Depo-Provera. Upjohn was aware of it. The trial court did not err by submitting this issue to the jury and the Fourth DCA did not err by declining to reverse the trial court on this issue.

#### POINT II

The Fourth DCA's opinion does not address this issue and this point is not individually reviewable based on any express and direct conflict.

There was more than ample evidence for the jury to find a causal connection between the inadequate warnings and plaintiff's injuries. If Dr. Levy had been warned that Depo-Provera can cause prolonged heavy bleeding in a high percentage of women he would have allowed the effects of the drug to wear off instead of performing a hysterectomy. There was expert testimony offered about the cause of plaintiff's prolonged heavy bleeding being directly related to her second injection of Depo-Provera.

#### POINT III

The Fourth DCA's opinion does not address this issue. That is possibly because it was not properly preserved when Upjohn first moved for a directed verdict at trial.

Besides, Upjohn admittedly had knowledge of the widespread use of Depo-Provera for contraceptive purposes in thi



country and abroad. The use of the drug in this case as a contraceptive was hardly unforeseeable to Upjohn. The duty to warn extends not only to the manufacturer's intended use of a product but to ~~all~~ foreseeable uses, and even foreseeable misuses.

If Dr. Levy had prescribed Depo-Provera to a uterine cancer patient who reacted with prolonged heavy bleeding, he still would not have known it was a side effect of the drug since there is no warning. Foreseeability is almost invariably a jury question, and it was certainly one in this case.

Even if Dr. Levy's conduct was negligent, as a matter of law in Florida a doctor's malpractice in treating a tort victim is held to be foreseeable to the initial tortfeasor.

#### POINT IV

This is another issue Upjohn raises which was not addressed in the Fourth DCA's opinion and cannot create any conflict.

The lower court did not abuse its discretion by determining that the jury's verdict was not contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence and denying the motion for new trial. There was credible evidence presented to the jury that plaintiff did not want to become sterile and voluntarily elect the hysterectomy for permanent contraception. The jury was justified in believing the evidence that plaintiff only consented to the hysterectomy as a means to stop her uncontrollable bleeding.

The specific type of relief Upjohn asks for under this point is not the same thing Upjohn asked for in its motion

for new trial filed in the trial court.

POINT V

This issue was addressed by the Fourth DCA but it has nothing to do with the alleged basis for jurisdiction in this court.

After abandoning its "marijuana theory" of comparative negligence (which was the theory that persuaded the trial court to submit the comparative negligence issue to the jury Upjohn now relies exclusively on plaintiff's "snap decision" to have a hysterectomy as being an alternative ground to support a finding of comparative negligence.

Plaintiff's "snap decision" was made after bleeding heavily for five months to the point of anemia, and after he doctor told her a hysterectomy would stop the bleeding. It was not comparative negligence for plaintiff to take her doctor's advice without seeking further medical alternatives. Although Upjohn professes not to be taking the position that plaintiff should have sought another medical opinion, that is exactly what their position was before the Fourth DCA, and what it still boils down to even now. Upjohn admitted to the trial court that this position of theirs is not really a comparative negligence issue but a denial of the plaintiff claim based on proximate cause grounds. However now Upjohn relies on this as its sole basis to justify the jury's finding of comparative negligence.

There was no theory of comparative negligence that was suggested to the jury by Upjohn during its closing argument.

Nor do the pleadings suggest the basis for such an affirmative defense. The fact that all the evidence of plaintiff's prior drug use as a teenager (years before she went to Dr. Levy with a bleeding problem) was admitted at trial (under the guise of comparative negligence) along with plaintiff's prior suicide attempt, and was never tied later on to any relevant issue in this case, caused improper prejudice to the plaintiff before the eyes of the jury. That is the only explanation for the jury's finding of 49% comparative negligence. There is no legal basis in the record to find the plaintiff comparatively negligent and the Fourth DCA acted correctly in directing the trial court to reinstate the complete verdict.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER THE FOURTH DCA SHOULD BE  
QUASHED FOR AGREEING WITH THE  
TRIAL COURT THAT THE EVIDENCE  
PRESENTED A JURY QUESTION AS TO  
THE ADEQUACY OF UPJOHN'S WARNING  
CONTAINED IN THE PACKAGE INSERT?

Upjohn begins its argument by incorrectly stating that the basic premise of the Fourth DCA's decision in this case is that "in all events" the adequacy of a warning is always for the jury to decide; and that this conflicts with this court's recent decision in Felix v Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., 540 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1989), which held that such an issue can sometimes be a question of law. In actuality that is not what the Fourth DCA held in this case and there is no con-

flict at all with the Felix case. We believe this court has improvidently accepted jurisdiction in this case because there is no conflict with Felix.

Upjohn cites language from an earlier appeal in this case, in 1983, where the Fourth DCA stated that "in all events" the adequacy of a warning is for a jury to decide. MacMurdo v The Upjohn Co., 444 So.2d 449, 451 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

In context, the Fourth DCA was not saying, even in that old 1983 appeal, that such an issue can never be determined by the court as a matter of law. In fact even Upjohn took this position in the latest appeal before the Fourth DCA. We are filing, as an appendix to this brief, an excerpt from Upjohn Fourth DCA brief where Upjohn discusses the 1983 opinion in this case and states:

In an earlier appeal in this case, the Court reversed a summary judgment which had been entered in favor of the Upjohn Company. Writing for the Court, Judge Walden concluded the opinion by stating: 'But, in all events, the adequacy of the warning is for the jury to decide and may not be disposed of by summary judgment.' [citation omitted]. . . The Appellant [Upjohn] respectfully submits that the opinion was not intended as an expression by the Court that in no instance may the adequacy of a warning label be disposed of as a matter of law. . .

(See Appendix attached to this brief.)

However, now Upjohn is saying the exact opposite to this court, in order to make it appear that there is a conflict with Felix. Now Upjohn is saying that Judge Walden's 1983 opinion did hold that an issue over the adequacy of warnings

can never be determined by the court as a matter of law. It is well-settled that a litigant is estopped from taking a position on appeal which is inconsistent with the position taken by the litigant at an earlier point in the same litigation. MacKay v Fla. Power and Light Co., 524 So.2d 1068 (Fl. 4th DCA 1988). Obviously Upjohn can't have it both ways and, in fact, they were correct the first time.

This Court is now reviewing the Fourth DCA's 1988 opinion; not the 1983 opinion. In the 1988 opinion Judge Anstead wrote for the court:

We are convinced by a review of the record in this case that substantially more evidence on the issue of liability was presented at trial than existed at the time this court reviewed and reversed the summary judgment entered in favor of Upjohn. . . . Even if not bound by [the 1983 appeal], our review of the evidence presented at trial compels us to conclude that the case was properly submitted to the jury. . . . While there **was** considerable evidence presented that may have supported a verdict for Upjohn, there was also substantial evidence presented that the drug in question caused MacMurdo's bleeding problem, that the warnings were insufficient to alert her physicians of this risk, and that her hysterectomy was performed to treat the bleeding condition.  
536 So.2d at 339-340.

Dr. Levy, who prescribed the drug for MacMurdo to be used as a contraceptive, later misdiagnosed her prolonged and excessive bleeding and performed a hysterectomy because he was given no warning from Upjohn that this drug can produce such side effects. If he had been warned of this then all he would have had to do was discontinue MacMurdo's use of

this drug and the bleeding would have gradually subsided.

The Fourth DCA noted in its 1988 opinion:

[Dr.] Levy also testified that Upjohn's warnings about the side effects of the drug did not alert him to the possibility that MacMurdo's bleeding condition was related to the use of the drug. 536 So.2d at 341.

The Fourth DCA did not state, nor imply, that an issue concerning the sufficiency of warnings must always go to the jury in every case. In fact the court noted Upjohn's concession that "the adequacy of a particular warning is generally [not always] a question of fact for jury determination." [e.s.] 536 So.2d at 339.

Felix v Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., 540 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1989) is easily distinguishable from this case. In Felix the doctor who prescribed the drug (accutane) to a pregnant woman testified that he understood the written warnings (not to prescribe it to such a patient) and he had prior knowledge of the drug's dangerous side effect. That is at odds with the testimony of Dr. Levy in the present case. This Court in Felix expressly "recognize[d] that whether a warning is adequate is usually a jury question." Id. at 1321. However this Court also noted that there may be some cases where reasonable persons could not possibly differ on that issue and those cases could be determined as a matter of law.

The Fourth DCA in the present case did not disagree with that and its opinion does no violence to that principle since, even if some cases could be determined as a matter of law, this obviously is not such a case. In fact, the Fourth

DCA did not even mention the Felix case in its opinion because **it** does not apply to a case like this one where there was substantial evidence presented to support a jury determination that the warning was inadequate. Not only did the jury find the existence of such evidence in this case but so did the trial judge and three separate appellate panels after three separate appeals.

We agree with Upjohn that in a prescription drug case the manufacturer has a duty to warn the medical community and the prescribing physician of any known dangers, adverse side effects, contraindications, etc.; rather than a duty to directly warn the ultimate consumer. Buckner v Allergan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 400 So.2d 820 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

One of the purposes of warning the medical community is to alert the doctor to recognize known side effects of the drug so they are not later misdiagnosed as being something else. The failure of a drug manufacturer to warn the physician of all known side effects creates a cause of action running directly to the ultimate consumer of the drug. Albertson v Richardson-Merrell, Inc., 441 So.2d 1146 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)

In this case neither of the plaintiff's prescribing doctors knew that Depo-Provera can cause prolonged heavy bleeding for five months. Dr. Levy, Dr. Shapiro and Dr. Benjamin all testified that the side effect plaintiff experienced from the drug (prolonged dysfunctional bleeding, or "dysmenorrhea," lasting for several months) **was** not listed as a possible adverse reaction on the package insert. (R. 1097

1098; T. 332-333, 423, 486, 503-505, 971).

Concerning the use of Depo-Provera for contraception; the package insert does not state that the manufacturer recommends against the use of the drug for contraception nor is such a use listed as a "contraindication." Dr. Levy, Dr. Benjamin and Dr. Levitt all noted this during their testimony. (R. 1083; T. 312-314, 848-849).

There was also evidence that Upjohn had an obvious motive not to specifically recommend against the use of Depo-Provera as a contraceptive. As plaintiff argued to the jury in closing argument (T. 984), Upjohn had been trying for years to get the FDA to approve the use of Depo-Provera for contraception, so they naturally would not choose to be too aggressive about telling doctors that such a use was not recommended and contraindicated. Such a logical inference could certainly be drawn by the jury.

Upjohn relies in its brief on three adverse reactions listed in the package insert: "spotting," "breakthrough bleeding" and "change in menstrual flow." What the plaintiff experienced for five months could hardly be classified as "spotting," and it was also a completely different condition than "breakthrough bleeding," which is merely continued irregular spotting after the end of the normal menstrual period. (T. 425-426). Upjohn argues that if plaintiff's problem was not breakthrough bleeding then it was at least encompassed in the term "change in menstrual flow" which can include a prolonged period.



If Upjohn had meant that term ("change in menstrual flow" to warn about the possibility of non-stop heavy dysfunctional bleeding for five months, they could hardly have chosen a more understated phrase to alert the medical community. If (hypothetically) the plaintiff had begun bleeding out of her rectum, would Upjohn still argue that such a condition is also encompassed in the phrase "change in menstrual flow?" If (hypo-

---

was that the package insert should have quantified the risk of "breakthrough bleeding" or "changes in menstrual flow." That is not accurate. Plaintiff's position was that "they [Upjohn] had a duty to warn the doctors using the drug of any side effects that Upjohn was aware of . . . [and] they failed

Common sense.

You don't have to put fancy words.  
Just lay **it** on the line so doctors  
will understand **it** and not react  
the wrong way to a situation caused  
by a drug. (T. 1024).

Upjohn, like most drug manufacturers, employs "detail men" on the road who are available to discuss Upjohn's products with doctors. However, Upjohn's own detail man in South Florida, Joseph Paterniti, testified at trial (T. 191, et seq.) he had no knowledge that a high percentage of women using Depo-Provera, for any purpose, could expect to have prolonged bleeding as a side effect. (T. 216). Furthermore he indicated that if a doctor would have asked him any questions along these lines he simply would have provided the doctor with the package insert. (T. 215). Upjohn's own detail men knew as little as Dr. Levy knew about this particular side effect.

Finally under this point, Upjohn mentions several times that the wording **it** used on the package insert was approved by the FDA. Upjohn admitted in its Fourth DCA brief that "federal law does not conclude the issue which is before this court." (See Appendix attached to this brief.) However, Upjohn repeats several times in its brief how a package insert must be approved by the FDA before a drug is shipped inter-state.

It is well settled in Florida that a defendant's compliance with federal regulations or standards is admissible as evidence but **it** is not dispositive in a common law action brought for failure to issue an adequate warning or similar

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